IN THE SUPREME COURT IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. **79,449** Fla. Bar No. 0516937

FAMILY BANK OF HALLANDALE, etc.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Kimberly J. Tucker Deputy General Counsel

Department of Legal Affairs The Capitol - Suite LL04 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (904) 487-3852

Counsel for Petitioner State of Florida

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This case involves a claim by a bank against the State of Florida for recovery of sums disbursed by the bank to a third party on a state warrant. Prior to disbursement of the funds a stop payment had been placed by the State of Florida on the warrant in question. The bank had no knowledge of that stop payment and asserts that it was a "holder in due course" entitled to reimbursement by the State of Florida. The warrant was fraudulent cashed by the third party.

negotiable instruments under the Uniform Commercial Code. Since initiation of this cause and as a result of the trial court's ruling in this case, the Legislature enacted Section 673.104(4), Florida Statutes. This provision clarifies that state warrants are not negotiable instruments under the Uniform Commercial Code and reaffirms the Legislature's commitment to the sound public policy reasons underlying pre-Code cases by this Court which held that state warrants are not negotiable instruments.

The State of Florida was the defendant below and is the Petitioner in this court. Family Bank of Hallandale is the successor-in-interest to the plaintiff in the trial court and is the Respondent in this court. Petitioner appealed an order granting summary judgment to the Family Bank of Hallandale and granting them prejudgment interest on the amount of that judgment. Petitioner invokes the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to reverse the majority decision in the First District Court of Appeal, affirming the trial court's holding.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court decision conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the public policy of this state regarding the negotiability of state warrants. For reasons of public policy, state warrants have traditionally not been considered to be negotiable instruments, even though such warrants may comply with the form prescribed by the Uniform Commercial Code for negotiable instruments.

Prior to the trial court decision in this case, not one single example exists of a general state warrant being treated as a negotiable instrument in Florida. The only decisional law on the question of negotiability of warrants is this Court's decision in Town of Bithlo v. Bank of Commerce, 110 So. 837, 838 (Fla. 1926); See also, Marshall v. State ex rel. Sartain 88 Fla. 329, 102 So. 650 (Fla. 1924), in which a warrant was held to be a nonnegotiable order to pay. These decisions were entered prior to the adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code.

The only statement of the law on the negotiability of state warrants, after adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code, is an Attorney General's Opinion, Op.Atty.Gen., 073-101 (April 2, 1973). That opinion recognized the continued vitality of the public policy underlying this Court's decision in Town of Bithlo.

The majority district court decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Town of Bithlo</u> in holding that state warrants are negotiable instruments and in rejecting the public policy

underlying that decision. The district court's interpretation of the Uniform Commercial Code to require that state warrants clearly indicated on their face that they are non-negotiable is unsupported by any authority. See Opinion of District Court, p. 2. Further, the district court's conclusion that the legislature "turned away from a historic policy of non-negotiability" (Opinion, p. 2), when it enacted the Uniform Commercial Code, is unsupported by any authority.

The assessment of prejudgment interest against the State of Florida, under the circumstances in this case, is contrary to the decisions of the Court which require the consideration of equity in an award of prejudgment interest against the State.

Retrospective application of the district court decision on the negotiability of state warrants to the warrant at issue, coupled with the award of prejudgment interest against the people of Florida, conflicts with prior decisions of the district courts by penalizing the State for relying on Op.Atty.Gen. 073-101 for guidance, pending a contrary court decision.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court decision conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the public policy of this state regarding the negotiability of state warrants

A "warrant" is characterized as a chose in action, payable when funds are available for that purpose. The courts have been careful to distinguish warrants from bonds, generally holding a warrant is a nonnegotiable order to pay while a bond is a negotiable

promise to pay. <u>Town of Bithlo v. Bank of Commerce</u>, 110 So. 837, 838 (Fla. 1926); <u>accord</u>, 64 Am.Jur.2d <u>Public Securities and</u>
Obligations §§20-21.

This interpretation of "warrants" was recognized by this Court in Town of Blitho v. Bank of Commerce, 110 So. 837, 838 (Fla. 1926). In Blitho, this Court held in favor of the Town of Blitho on a claim initiated against it by a bank which was a holder in due course for value of a warrant issued to another party by the town, and later not honored due to illegality not apparent on the face of the warrant.

The <u>Bithlo</u> decision was entered prior to the adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code in Florida. <u>Bithlo</u> expressly concerned the negotiability of warrants under the law merchant, the predecessor of the Uniform Commercial Code. However, the Uniform Commercial Code expressly provides that the principles of law and

The <u>Bithlo</u> decision can be contrasted to the 1955 decision of this Court in <u>Wright v. Board of Public Instruction</u>, 77 So. 435, 437-38 (Fla. 1955), a case heavily relied upon by the Respondent. The <u>Wright Court held that "time warrants" issued by a county school board were negotiable instruments. The Court cited the Uniform Commercial Code in its decision and held that a holder in due course takes time warrants free of defenses of which it was unaware. <u>Wright</u> is distinguishable because of the unique differences between "time warrants" and other warrants.</u>

Time warrants are not ordinary warrants used in the payment of claims duly audited and allowed against municipalities and other governmental subdivisions and the State. "Time warrants" are "certificates of indebtedness" and, thus, like bonds are negotiable instruments. See e.g. Hubert v. City of Vero Beach, 93 Fla. 323, 326, 112 So. 52 (Fla. 1927)("Time warrants are 'certificates of indebtedness' within the meaning of the Bond Validating Act").

equity, including the law merchant, shall <u>supplement</u> the provisions of the U.C.C., unless otherwise required by a particular provision of the Code. <u>See e.g.</u> §671.103, Florida Statutes. Since nothing in the Uniform Commercial Code, as adopted in Florida, expressly requires that state warrants be treated as negotiable instruments, Petitioner submits that the <u>Bithlo</u> decision and treatment of warrants under the law merchant remain controlling law. The trial and district court erroneously interpreted the Uniform Commercial Code to require an express exemption of state warrants in order for such warrants to be treated as nonnegotiable. The district court "question[ed] the motivation of the state" for asserting that warrants are not negotiable on public policy grounds. Opinion, pp. 3-4.

The district court curiously held that:

The legislature turned away from a historic public policy of non-negotiability, announced through court decisions, and declared the policy of this state to be that government entities may issue negotiable paper that will move freely in commerce.

Opinion, pp. 2-3. The district court offers no citation of authority for its conclusion that the legislature abandoned the public policy underlying the treatment of warrants as non-negotiable. Nor does the district court reconcile this statement with the enactment of \$673.104(4) by the Florida Legislature subsequent to the trial court's decision in this case. Despite the clearly expressed legislative intent that "the Legislature intends to clarify and confirm existing law", through enactment of

§673.104(4), regarding the public policy of this state to treat warrants as non-negotiable, the district court rendered its opinion and retroactively applied it to a warrant issued in 1986. See SEction 2 of Law 1991, c. 91-216; See also, §673.104(4), Fla.Stat.Ann. (Historical and Statutory Notes).

While prospective application of the district court's erroneous decision has been precluded for warrants issued subsequent to the enactment of §673.104(4), the decision has precedential impact on other warrants issued by the State during the period between 1988 and the present time, on which stop payment orders were issued. Many of these warrants were stolen. The statute of limitations for such warrants has not run. The value of such warrants may represent several hundred thousand dollars. No appropriation exists to pay claims for such warrants, just as no appropriation exists to pay for the judgment in this case. For the foregoing reasons, the Court should accept jurisdiction in this case and resolve the conflict between this Court's previous decision in Town of Bithlo and the district court's holding on negotiability of state warrants.

II. The prejudgment assessment ο£ interest against State of Florida, circumstances in this case, is contrary to the decisions οf the Court which require consideration of equity

The district court held that "a prevailing party against the state in an action on a state warrant is entitled to prejudgment interest." Opinion, p. 2. The district court cited Broward County

v. Finlayson, 555 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1990); Argonaut Ins. Co. v. May Plumbing Co., 474 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1985); Department of Health And Rehab. Services v. Boyd, 525 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). However, none of these cases hold that prejudgment interest should be assessed against the State in all circumstances, regardless of equitable considerations, as suggested by the district court. Indeed, this Court has expressly held that equity must be considered in assessing prejudgment interest against the state, since ultimately it is the people who must pay the cost of such interest.

In <u>Kissimmee Utility Authority v. Better Plastics, Inc.</u>, 526 So.2d 46, 47 (Fla. 1988) this court held that "once damages are liquidated, prejudgment interest is considered an element of those damages as a matter of law, and the plaintiff is to be made whole from the date of the loss." This general rule is not absolute, however. Broward County v Finlayson, 555 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1990).

Generally, the government is not liable for interest in the absence of an express statutory provision or stipulation by the government that interest will be paid. Flack v. Graham, 461 So.2d 82, 83 (Fla. 1984). Immunity from interest is an attribute of sovereignty, implied by law for the benefit of the state. Flack v. Graham, 461 So.2d at 83; Treadway v. Terrell, 117 Fla. 838, 158 So. 512 (1935).

The state's immunity from interest can be waived. Flack v. Graham, supra; Treadway v. Terrell, supra; Florida Livestock Board v. Gladden, 86 So.2d 812 (Fla. 1956); Brooks v. School Board, 419 So.2d 659 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); and Department of Health and

Rehabilitative Services v. Boyd, 525 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). However, determinations regarding interest may depend on equitable considerations. Broward County v. Finlayson, 555 So.2d at 1213.

In <u>Flack v. Graham</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Florida Supreme Court refused to permit recovery of any prejudgment interest, stating that:

"[I]nterest is not recovered according to a theory rigid of compensation for monev withheld, but given is in response considerations of fairness. It is denied when its exaction would be inequitable."

Flack, 461 So.2d at 84 (quoting Board of Commissioners of Jackson County v. United States, 308 U.S. 343, 352, 60 S.Ct. 285, 289, 84 L.Ed. 313 (1939)). The Florida Supreme Court did not recede from this principle of fairness and equity governing in matters of prejudgment interest in Argonaut Insurance or Kissimmee Utility Authority. See e.g. Broward County v. Finlayson, 555 So.2d at 1213.

By failing to address the equitable considerations in this case, the district court's decision conflicts with the decisions of this court on the issue of prejudgment interest. The interest assessed against the state in this case includes interest for periods of delay caused by the Respondent. These delays were caused by filing the case in the wrong venue, opposing transfer to the proper venue, failure to pay a filing fee in the transfer venue, failure to presecute the case leading to dismissal for failure to prosecute, failure to schedule

hearings on Respondent's own motions, and requests for enlargement of time. Petitioner asserts that the assessment of prejudgment interest for such periods of delay is inequitable and contrary to this Court's decisions on the assessment of prejudgment interest against the people of the State of Florida.

III. Retrospective application of the District Court decision on the negotiability of state warrants to the warrant at issue in this case conflicts with prior decisions of this court by denying the State the right to rely on AGO 73-073-101, pending a contrary court decision

On April 2, 1973, the Attorney General for the State of Florida issued an opinion regarding the negotiability of state warrants under the Uniform Commercial Code as it relates to a holder in due course. Op.Atty.Gen. 073-101 (April 2, 1973), pp. 161-164. That opinion is the only statement of authority regarding the negotiability of warrants issued subsequent to the adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code in Florida. The Comptroller of the State of Florida has relied on this decision in addressing claims on warrants. At the time Seminole National Bank cashed the warrant in question, Respondent was on notice that the State did not consider its warrants negotiable, as a result of the publication of this opinion.

It has long been recognized by the courts of this state that opinions of the Attorney General, while not legally binding on courts, are persuasive and entitled to great weight in construing Florida Statutes and the law of this state. Beverly v. Division of Bev. of Dept of Business Reg., 282 So.2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1st DCA

1973); Richey v. Town of Indian River Shores, 337 So.2d 410, 414 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); Fla.Jur.2d, Statutes \$164; Fla.Jur.2d, State of Florida §\$50, 51. The opinions as to the validity or invalidity of a statute are guides for state executive and administrative officers in performing their official duties until superseded by judicial decision. Fla.Jur.2d, Statutes §164; Fla.Jur.2d, State of Florida §\$50, 51.

By retrospecitively applying its decision on the negotiability of warrants to a warrant issued in 1986, and then assessing prejudgment interest against the state for judgment on that warrant, the district court decision denied the Comptroller the benefit of the Attorney General's opinion. This conflicts with the spirit of district court decisions on the persuasive affect of Attorney General's Opinions by penalizing the State for reliance on an opinion regarding the negotiability of state warants.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, this Court should invoke its discretionary jurisdiction over the appeal of the district court decision in this cause.