H SID J. WHITE APR 1/0 1992 ELERK, SUPREME COURT By. Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,449

FAMILY BANK OF HALLANDALE, etc.

Respondent.

BRIEF OPPOSING JURISDICTION BY

FAMILY BANK OF HALLANDALE

Robert L. Hinkle Aurell Radey Hinkle Thomas & Beranek Suite 1000, Monroe-Park Tower 101 North Monroe Street Post Office Drawer 11307 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 681-7766

Counsel for Respondent

##

#### Statement of the Case

On February 5, 1987, the State of Florida ("the state") issued a state warrant for \$16,932 payable to "Teds Sheds." The warrant was endorsed by Teds Sheds and deposited to its account at the respondent bank on February 12, 1987. The bank accepted the warrant in good faith and without any knowledge of any dispute or alleged irregularity concerning the warrant.

On February 19, 1987, the state issued a second warrant for the same amount, also payable to "Teds Sheds," based on the uncorroborated assertion of the payee that it had not received the first warrant.<sup>1</sup> The state issued the second warrant without obtaining any statement under oath (as required by statute prior to issuance of a replacement warrant), without obtaining an indemnity bond (as authorized by statute), and without attempting to locate the first warrant. The state stopped payment on the first warrant and refused to honor it when presented through normal banking channels by the respondent bank.

The bank sued the state for payment on the warrant. The circuit court granted summary judgment for the bank for the amount of the warrant plus prejudgment interest. The First District affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The person contacting the state noted that there were two corporations with similar names: Ted's Sheds, Inc. and Ted's Sheds of Broward, Inc. The person who contacted the state asserted the wrong corporation had obtained the warrant. The state accepted this assertion without inquiry. As it turns out, the two companies had the same officers.

#### Summary of Argument in Opposition to Jurisdiction

The issue on liability is whether a state warrant is a negotiable instrument under the Uniform Commercial Code. As the state itself emphasized in the courts below, this is an issue of first impression. No Florida court has addressed the issue except the First District in the decision now before the court; that decision is not in conflict with any other decision on this point because there are no other decisions on this point. The 1926 decision with which the state now asserts conflict obviously did not address the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code, which was not adopted until 1965, nearly four decades later.

The First District's decision on prejudgment interest was fully consistent with every decision on this point and conflicted with none. This court has repeatedly held prejudgment interest proper in similar circumstances. The state's assertion now that it would be "inequitable" to award prejudgment interest was not addressed by the First District (presumably because baseless on the facts); the First District's silence would not constitute an express and direct conflict even if there were cases tying prejudgment interest to the "equities."

Finally, the First District's refusal to follow an erroneous Attorney General opinion did not conflict with any Florida decision; Florida cases uniformly recognize that Attorney General opinions are not binding.

#### Argument in Opposition to Jurisdiction

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S HOLDING THAT THE WARRANT AT ISSUE WAS A NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENT UNDER THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE AS ADOPTED IN 1965 DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S 1926 DECISION IN TOWN OF BITHLO

In 1965, the state of Florida adopted the Uniform Commercial Code, perhaps the most comprehensive revision of an entire area of the law ever undertaken. Article 3 of the Code explicitly defined the "negotiable instruments" to which it applied. See §673.104(1), Florida Statutes (1965). That definition remained in effect until long after all the events at issue in this case and indeed until after the final judgment was entered.

As the state admitted in the courts below, the state warrant involved in this case came within the express statutory definition: it was signed by the maker (§673.104(1)(a)), contained an unconditional order to pay (§673.104(1)(b)), was payable on demand (§673.104(1)(c)), and was payable to order (§673.104(1)(d)). The statute declared that "[a]ny writing" meeting this statutory definition was a negotiable instrument. See §673.104(1); see also Uniform Commercial Code Comment 4 to § 3-104, reprinted in 19B Florida Statutes Annotated at page 34 (any writing that meets statutory definition is negotiable instrument) (West 1966).

The Uniform Commercial Code strongly favored negotiability and was specifically intended to displace prior decisions holding many government instruments non-negotiable. See, e.g., Florida Statutes § 673.105(1)(g); Uniform Commercial Code Comments to § 3-105, reprinted in 19B Florida Statutes Annotated at pages 44-45 (West

1966). Florida adopted the relevant provisions without change.

The principal issue in the courts below was whether the warrant at issue was a negotiable instrument under the Uniform Commercial Code. The state repeatedly emphasized in both the circuit and district court that this was an issue of first impression: no Florida court had ever addressed this issue under the Uniform Commercial Code.

The state still admits that no Florida decision addresses this issue under the Uniform Commercial Code. The state now asserts, however, that the First District decision conflicts with <u>Town of Bithlo v. Bank of Commerce</u>, 110 So. 837 (Fla. 1926). That 1926 decision obviously did not decide the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code, which was written four decades later as a complete overhaul of prior law and which was expressly intended to change the law on the specific point at issue.

II. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S HOLDING THAT INTEREST IS PAYABLE ON CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE STATE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH BROWARD COUNTY V. FINLAYSON OR OTHER DECISIONS OF THIS COURT

This court has repeatedly held that interest may be awarded against the state or its subdivisions. <u>See, e.g., Broward County</u> <u>v. Finlayson</u>, 555 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1990) (prejudgment interest awarded against county on statutory overtime claim); <u>Florida</u> <u>Livestock Board v. Gladden</u>, 86 So.2d 812 (Fla. 1956) (interest awarded against state on claim for destruction of cattle); <u>Treadway</u> <u>v. Terrell</u>, 117 Fla. 838, 158 So. 512 (1935) (prejudgment interest awarded against state on claim for breach of road building

contract).<sup>2</sup>

The state has cited no case holding to the contrary. Instead, the state now apparently admits that interest may be awarded The state also admits that interest would be against the state. payable by a private party under the circumstances of the case at See, e.g., Argonaut Insurance Co. v. May Plumbing Co., 474 bar. So.2d 212 (Fla. 1985) (prejudgment interest is a component of full compensation; the debt is being paid later rather than earlier, and the award of interest recognizes the time value of money); Kissimmee Utility Authority v. Better Plastics, Inc., 526 So.2d 46 (Fla. 1988) ("once damages are liquidated, prejudgment interest is considered an element of those damages as a matter of law, and the plaintiff is to be made whole from the date of the loss"); Florida Steel Corp. v. Adaptable Developments, Inc., 503 So.2d 1232, 1236-37 (Fla. 1986).

The state asserts, however, that interest can be awarded against the state only where it is "equitable" to do so. The state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The district courts also have held that prejudgment interest is awardable against the state or its subdivisions. See, e.g., Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Boyd, 525 So.2d 432, 433 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (when state waives immunity from contract action, "it has also impliedly waived immunity in regard to interest, which is a relief flowing naturally from a finding of liability and is necessary for complete compensation in such actions"); Dade County v. American Re-Insurance Co., 467 So.2d 414, 418 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (affirming award of interest against county in contract action; "The principle is established in Florida that where the state (or any of its subdivisions) can sue or be sued, the state (or subdivision) is impliedly liable for any interest on a claim against it"); Metropolitan Dade County v. Bouterse, Perez & Fabregas Architects Planners, Inc., 463 So.2d 526, 527 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (county is liable in contract action for interest from date when payment was due); Brooks v. School Board, 419 So.2d 659, 661-62 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) (prejudgment interest awarded against school board on claim "in the nature of a contact action").

cites no case, and none exists, suggesting that it is "inequitable" to require payment of prejudgment interest by a party that chooses not to honor a contractual obligation.<sup>3</sup> In any event, the First District did not disagree with the state's "equity" contention; the First District simply did not address that contention in any way, probably because the equities here strongly favor the bank, rendering moot any legal issue concerning the role of "the equities."<sup>4</sup> The First District's decision does not conflict with any decision on the payment of prejudgment interest.

## III. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH BEVERLY OR RICHEY, WHICH EXPRESSLY RECOGNIZE THAT ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS ARE NOT BINDING

Finally, the state asserts that the First District decision conflicts with decisions regarding the effect of Attorney General

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A party's liability on a negotiable instrument is contractual. See, e.g., Florida Statutes § 673.413(1) ("Contract of maker" is to pay instrument according to its tenor); J. White & R. Summers, Handbook of the Law under the Uniform Commercial Code § 13-6 at 498 (2d ed. 1980) (maker's liability on instrument is contractual).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The state has admitted that the respondent bank acted entirely in good faith; there was nothing the bank could have done to prevent the loss at issue. The state, in contrast, botched its handling of the matter at every turn. The state issued a purchase order - the parties' contract - to "Teds Sheds," an abbreviated trade name, without further identifying the entity. The state issued a warrant to "Teds Sheds," the same abbreviated trade name. When an officer of "Teds Sheds" claimed the warrant had gone to the other "Teds Sheds," the state accepted this assertion without inquiry. Just 14 days after issuing the first warrant the state issued a second; the state did so without bothering to check the Secretary of State's records (which showed that both corporations had the same officers) and, worse, without attempting to learn the whereabouts of the first warrant. The state also did not require an indemnity bond (as authorized by statute) and did not obtain a statement under oath that the original warrant had been lost, as <u>mandated</u> by statute. See Florida Statutes § 17.13. The state now seeks to shift the loss resulting from the officer's fraud and the state's gross negligence to the admittedly innocent bank that paid the warrant. The "equities" do not favor the state.

opinions. As the state admits, however, those decisions uniformly recognize that Attorney General opinions are "not legally binding." See Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction at 9; <u>Beverly v. Division of</u> <u>Beverages</u>, 282 So.2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973); <u>Richey v. Town</u> <u>of Indian River Shores</u>, 337 So.2d 410, 414 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); <u>see</u> <u>also Leadership Housing</u>, <u>Inc. v. Department of Revenue</u>, 336 So.2d 1239, 1241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976) (declining to follow Attorney's General opinion that the court found to be erroneous).<sup>5</sup>

Here the First District properly chose not to follow the incorrect Attorney General opinion. The First District's view that Attorney General opinions are not binding is fully consistent with the decisions cited by the state.<sup>6</sup> There is no conflict.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The state's assertion of conflict with Beverly would provide no basis for jurisdiction in this court even if correct; Beverly was a decision of the same First District that rendered the decision of which the state seeks review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Attorney General Opinion 073-101, relied on by the state here, expressly recognized that the issue of whether state warrants are negotiable instruments under the Uniform Commercial Code was an issue never addressed by the Florida courts, thus refuting the state's assertion of conflict under point I of its jurisdictional brief in this court. In addressing that issue, the Attorney General specifically expressed his opinion only "until legislatively or judicially determined to the contrary." Attorney General Opinion 073-101. The Attorney General thus recognized the authority of the courts to make a contrary determination, as the First District now has done.

## <u>Conclusion</u>

The First District's decision does not conflict with any decision of this court or any other district court. Review should be denied.

Respectfully submitted,

Robert Hinkle

Robert L. Hinkle (#0227773) Aurell Radey Hinkle Thomas & Beranek Suite 1000, Monroe-Park Tower Post Office Drawer 11307 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 681-7766

Attorneys for respondent